RECEIVED

12-28-2009

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2008-AP-0658-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL A. SVEUM,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

BRIEF AND SHORT APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

On Review from Wisconsin Court of Appeals,
District IV

Dean A. Strang
Wisconsin Bar No. 1009868
Marcus J. Berghahn
Wisconsin Bar No. 1026953

HURLEY, BURISH & STANTON, S.C. Counsel for Michael A. Sveum 33 East Main Street, Suite 400 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 [608] 257-0945

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Arizona v. Gant, 129 S. Ct. 1710 (2009)
Arizona v. Johnson, 129 S. Ct. 781 (2009)
California v. Carney, 471 U.S. 386 (1985)
Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132 (1925)
Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752 (1969)
City of Indianapolis v. Edmond, 531 U.S. 32 (2000)
Commonwealth v. Connolly, 454 Mass. 808, 913 N.E.2d 356 (2009)
Davis v. Mississippi, 394 U.S. 721 (1969)
Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648 (1979)
Dunaway v. New York, 442 U.S. 200 (1979)
Jones v. United States, 357 U.S. 493 (1958)
Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347 (1967)
Maryland v. Dyson, 527 U.S. 465 (1999)
Michigan Dep't. Of State Police v. Sitz, 496 U.S. 444 (1990) 18
Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385 (1978)

Murray v. United States, 487 U.S. 533 (1988) 28, 30 Nardone v. United States, 308 U.S. 338 (1939) 27 Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431 (1984) 27, 28, 30 Pennsylvania v. Labron, 518 U.S. 938 (1996) 25 People v. Weaver, 12 N.Y.3d 433, 909 N.E.2d 1195 (2009) 11, 12, 27 Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438 (1980) 17 Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961) 27 State v. Campbell, 306 Or. 157, 759 P.2d 1040 (1988) 11 State v. Jackson, 150 Wash. 2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003) 11, 12, 27 State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) 24 State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30 State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992) 28	Minnesota v. Dickerson, 508 U.S. 366 (1993)
Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431 (1984) 27, 28, 30 Pennsylvania v. Labron, 518 U.S. 938 (1996) 25 People v. Weaver, 12 N.Y.3d 433, 909 N.E.2d 1195 (2009) 11, 12, 27 Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438 (1980) 17 Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961) 27 State v. Campbell, 306 Or. 157, 759 P.2d 1040 (1988) 11 State v. Jackson, 150 Wash. 2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003) 11, 12, 27 State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) 24 State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30 State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	Murray v. United States, 487 U.S. 533 (1988)
Pennsylvania v. Labron, 518 U.S. 938 (1996) 25 People v. Weaver, 12 N.Y.3d 433, 909 N.E.2d 1195 (2009) 11, 12, 27 Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438 (1980) 17 Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961) 27 State v. Campbell, 306 Or. 157, 759 P.2d 1040 (1988) 11 State v. Jackson, 150 Wash. 2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003) 11, 12, 27 State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) 24 State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30 State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	Nardone v. United States, 308 U.S. 338 (1939)
People v. Weaver, 12 N.Y.3d 433, 909 N.E.2d 1195 (2009) 11, 12, 27 Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438 (1980) 17 Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961) 27 State v. Campbell, 306 Or. 157, 759 P.2d 1040 (1988) 11 State v. Jackson, 150 Wash. 2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003) 11, 12, 27 State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) 24 State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30 State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431 (1984)
Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438 (1980) 17 Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961) 27 State v. Campbell, 306 Or. 157, 759 P.2d 1040 (1988) 11 State v. Jackson, 150 Wash. 2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003) 11, 12, 27 State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) 24 State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30 State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	Pennsylvania v. Labron, 518 U.S. 938 (1996)
Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961) 27 State v. Campbell, 306 Or. 157, 759 P.2d 1040 (1988) 11 State v. Jackson, 150 Wash. 2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003) 11, 12, 27 State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) 24 State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30 State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	People v. Weaver, 12 N.Y.3d 433, 909 N.E.2d 1195 (2009) 11, 12, 27
State v. Campbell, 306 Or. 157, 759 P.2d 1040 (1988) 11 State v. Jackson, 150 Wash. 2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003) 11, 12, 27 State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) 24 State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30 State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438 (1980)
State v. Jackson, 150 Wash. 2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003) 11, 12, 27 State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) 24 State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30 State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961)
State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994)	State v. Campbell, 306 Or. 157, 759 P.2d 1040 (1988)
State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30 State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	State v. Jackson, 150 Wash. 2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003) 11, 12, 27
State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13 State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994) 24
State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23 State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	State v. Lopez, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996) 28,30
State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23 State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 13
State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)	State v. Murdock, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990) 23
` 11 /	State v. Sanders, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713 23
	State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992)

State v. Sveum, 2009 WI App 81, 319 Wis. 2d 498, 769 N.W.2d 53 viii, 2-4, 6, 10, 13, 16, 17, 23, 26, 29-32
State v. Williams, 2002 WI 94, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834 23
Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968)
Thompson v. State, 83 Wis. 2d 134, 265 N.W.2d 467 (1978) 24
United States v. Brignoni-Ponce , 422 U.S. 873 (1975)
United States v. Dunn, 480 U.S. 294 (1987)
United States v. Edwards, 415 U.S. 800 (1974)
United States v. Garcia, 474 F.3d 994 (7th Cir. 2007)
United States v. Jacobsen , 466 U.S. 109 (1984)
United States v. Karo, 468 U.S. 705 (1984) 9, 12, 13, 17, 26, 27, 29
United States v. Knotts, 460 U.S. 276 (1983)
United States v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543 (1976)
United States v. Montoya de Hernandez, 473 U.S. 531 (1985) 18
United States v. Place , 462 U.S. 696 (1983)
United States v. Ramsey, 431 U.S. 606 (1972)
United States v. Van Leeuwen, 397 U.S. 249 (1970)
Weeks v. United States, 232 U.S. 383 (1914)

Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963)
CONSTITUTION, STATUTES AND RULES
U.S. CONST. amend. IV
Wis. Const. Art. I, § 11
Wis. Stat. § 100.203(1)(e)
WIS. STAT. § 301.48
WIS. STAT. § 301.48(1)(a)
Wis. Stat. § 301.48(1)(c)
Wis. Stat. § 301.48(2)
Wis. Stat. § 301.48(2)(d)
Wis. Stat. § 809.19(1)(d)
Wis. Stat. § 809.19(1)(e)
Wis. Stat. § 809.19(1)(f)
WIS. STAT. § 809.19(2)(a)
WIS. STAT. § 809.19(8)(b)
WIS. STAT. § 809.19(8)(c)1
WIS. STAT. § 809.19(12)

WIS. STAT. § 809.19(13)
WIS. STAT. § 946.465
Wis. Stat. § 968.27(1)
Wis. Stat. § 968.27(4)(d)
Wis. Stat. § 968.31(2)(b)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
David Schumann, Tracking Evidence with GPS Technology, 77 WIS. LAWYER 5 (2004)
Scott Pace <i>et al.,</i> The Global Positioning System: Assessing National Policies (Rand 1995)

ISSUES

1. When police officers three times attached Global Positioning System (GPS) devices to Michael Sveum's car in the driveway of the home in which he resided, and then electronically monitored that car's movement in public and private places for five weeks, did they effect a "seizure" or a "search," or both, within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

The circuit court held that there was no search for purposes of the Fourth Amendment. R116:106.¹ The Wisconsin Court of Appeals held that there was neither Fourth Amendment search nor seizure. *State v. Sveum*, 2009 WI App 81, ¶19, 319 Wis. 2d 498, 769 N.W.2d 53, 60.

2. Does the Wisconsin Electronic Surveillance Control Law, WIS. STAT. §§ 968.27 – 968.31, require police to obtain judicial approval to place a GPS device on a car and to monitor its travel?

The circuit court held that WESCL does not apply to the police conduct here. R113. The court of appeals agreed that WESCL does not apply, because a GPS unit is a "tracking device" excepted from the definition of "electronic communications." Sveum, 2009 WI App 81, \P 924-30.

¹ Sveum uses this format for citations to the record and its docket numbers.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Court already has set oral argument. The reasons for granting review also counsel publication, which rightly is this Court's usual practice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. This is a direct appeal from Michael Sveum's criminal conviction in Dane County Circuit Court. On October 13, 2009, this Court granted review to determine whether the warrantless placement of a Global Positioning System (GPS) device on a car by the police, and the subsequent continuous monitoring of the car's location in public and private places, violated the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. It also granted review on the question whether the Wisconsin Electronic Surveillance Control Law, WIS. STAT. §§ 968.27 through 968.31, requires judicial approval before police place a GPS device on a car.²

Procedural Status. The state charged Sveum in Dane County Circuit Court with aggravated stalking in 2003. R1, R9. He had a jury trial and lost, R58, R62-64, but before and after trial preserved the challenges at issue here. R7, R 23, R, 24, R29,, R30, R93, R95. Following a timely post-conviction motion, the circuit court, Hon. Steven D. Ebert presiding, denied post-conviction relief on the issues this Court has agreed to review and on others. R126.

Sveum then pursued a timely *pro se* appeal to the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District IV. The court of appeals affirmed his conviction. *State v. Sveum*, 2009 WI App 81, 319 Wis. 2d 498, 769 N.W.2d 53. It expressly addressed and rejected the two issues on which Sveum sought this Court's review. *Sveum*, 2009 WI App 81, ¶¶6-22 (Fourth Amendment issue), ¶¶23-30 (WESCL issue).

Disposition in Courts Below. Sentenced to 7-1/2 years of initial confinement for this aggravated stalking conviction, with 5 years of

² In his *pro se* petition for review, Sveum cited Wis. Stat. §§ 968.27 through 968.37. Nothing beyond § 968.31 arguably applies here, though.

extended supervision to follow, R77, R81, Sveum is in prison now. As he notes above, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction.

Facts. On April 22, 2003, police obtained a court order allowing them to place a GPS device on Michael Sveum's car, to enter and reenter the car, to replace the GPS unit's batteries as needed, and to monitor Sveum's movement in the car for up to 60 days. R116:31 & Ex. 18. Faced with concerns that this court order was both overbroad, Sveum, 2009 WI App 81, ¶6, and technically not a warrant, id. at ¶6 n.3, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals eventually addressed only the question whether the police conduct constituted a Fourth Amendment search or seizure at all. Id. at ¶6.

After obtaining the order, in the early morning hours on April 23, 2003, four police officers entered the Cross Plains property where they believed Sveum was living. R116:86-87. His car was in the driveway. That driveway was approximately the length of two cars with a garage at the end. Sveum's car was parked close to the garage, pointed toward the street. R116:73. The rear of the car was "only a couple of feet" from the closed garage door. R116:74. Officers approached the car and attached a GPS device to the rear undercarriage of the car with a magnet and tape. R116:42-43. Attaching the device involved officers lying on their backs under the car. R116:74. One of the officers, Det. Mary Lou Ricksecker, earlier had consulted with a DCI agent who assisted in attaching the GPS device to Sveum's car. That agent had reported to Ricksecker that he assisted other police agencies in placing GPS devices "quite routinely and often." R116:41.

Because the GPS device ran on a battery, it required replacement every 14-21 days. R116:45. Accordingly, after perhaps two weeks or a bit less, officers went to the home again, removed the original device from Sveum's car in the driveway, and attached a new one in the same

manner as the first. R116:46, 72, 86. Officers then downloaded the information from the first GPS device. R116:46-47.

They repeated this procedure once more, removing the second GPS device and attaching a third. R116:47, 72. Officers removed that last device from the car on May 27, 2003. R116:47. At least some information from the GPS devices made its way into a May 27 application for two search warrants directed at Sveum. R116:51-52.

Sveum later moved to suppress the results of the GPS devices and of three search warrants³ that followed the use of the GPS devices. R23, 24, R29, R30.

After hearing testimony from two police officers at a suppression hearing on November 4, 2005, the trial court denied Sveum's motions. R113, R116. The court held that it could not find that going into the driveway was a "violation of curtilage." R116:106. Further, as to the GPS devices, the court found that no search occurred. R116:106.

A jury later convicted Sveum. R68 On post-conviction motion, the circuit court again refused to suppress the results of the GPS devices. R93, R96 (motion), R113 (order).

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals affirmed Sveum's conviction. It "agree[d] with the State that neither a search nor a seizure occurs when the police use a GPS device to track a vehicle while it is visible to the general public." *Sveum*, 2009 WI App 81, ¶8. The court of appeals also agreed "with the State that the police action of attaching the GPS device to Sveum's car, either by itself or in combination with

³ A third warrant to search the hard drive and tower of a computer followed the two May 27, 2003 warrants. R116:58-59, Ex. 23.

subsequent tracking, does not constitute a search or seizure." Id. at ¶12.

Responding to Sveum's argument that because the GPS device also transmitted the location of the car when out of public view, all tracking information should be suppressed, *id.* at ¶16, the court of appeals disagreed. While the court of appeals conceded that the police presumably obtained location information while Sveum's car was inside areas not open to surveillance, it concluded first that, "there is no indication that this same information could not have been obtained by visual surveillance from outside these enclosures. Such surveillance could have told the police when Sveum's car entered or exited his garage and the garage at his workplace and, therefore, informed them when his car remained in those places." *Id.* at ¶17. Second, it noted that Sveum suggested no reason why all tracking information should be suppressed even if information about the car's location in enclosures should have been suppressed. *Id.* at ¶18.

In short, the court of appeals concluded "that no Fourth Amendment search or seizure occurs when police attach a GPS device to the outside of a vehicle while it is in a place accessible to the public and then use that device to track the vehicle while it is in public view." *Id.* at ¶19. Having reached that result, the court of appeals added:

We are more than a little troubled by the conclusion that no Fourth Amendment search or seizure occurs when police use a GPS or similar device as they have here. So far as we can tell, existing law does not limit the government's use of tracking devices to investigations of legitimate criminal suspects. If there is no Fourth Amendment search or seizure, police are seemingly free to secretly track *anyone's* public movements with a GPS device.

Id. at ¶20 (italics in original).

After noting similar concerns about private use of GPS surveillance devices, the court of appeals "urge[d] the legislature to explore imposing limitations on the use of GPS and similar devices by both government and private actors." Id. at ¶22.

Addressing Sveum's separate claim that the use of the GPS device here violated Wisconsin's Electronic Surveillance Control Law, the court of appeals held that the GPS device fell within the exclusion for "Any communication from a tracking device." WIS. STAT. § 968.27(4)(d); see Sveum, 2009 WI App 81, ¶¶24-29.

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