# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2008AP658-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

 $\mathbf{v}$ 

MICHAEL A. SVEUM,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, HONORABLE STEVEN EBERT, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-9620

#

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

At trial, defense counsel stipulated to Sveum's prior conviction (120:38, 81-82). Counsel then used this to his client's advantage by showing that his behavior and tactics had changed significantly since 1996 and he was no longer a threat to Johnson's safety, assuming he ever was (120:33-37; 122:52-54). Sveum fails to explain how any questions about the prior conviction would have made a difference or diminished the impact of the overwhelming evidence of his guilt. As the trial court concluded, this was nothing more than a disagreement between Sveum

and his attorney over strategy, a matter not reviewable under *Strickland* (113:4; A-Ap. at 12). *See United States* v. *Cieslowski*, 410 F.3d 353, 361 (7th Cir. 2005) (decisions that fall "squarely within the realm of strategic choice" will not support a *Strickland* challenge).

# 2. Curative instructions for the prior stalking conviction.

Sveum wanted some sort of jury instruction to the effect that the prior stalking conviction was introduced "solely because it bears upon the elements of the offense charged." Sveum's brief at 23. As noted above, there were several elements for which the 1996 conviction was properly admitted. A curative instruction to the effect that it was relevant and admissible "only" to prove those elements would have had little favorable impact. The jury was already instructed on what those elements were, including the requirement that the state had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Sveum was convicted of stalking Johnson within seven years.

### 3. Evidence of a pending appeal.

Sveum argues that counsel should have told the jury there was an appeal pending in a habeas corpus action he had filed apparently challenging his 1996 conviction. This was not an "appeal" at all from that conviction. That appeal ended when this court affirmed the judgment of conviction in 1998. *State v. Sveum*, 220 Wis. 2d 396, 584 N.W.2d 137 (Ct. App. 1998). Rather, this was a separate civil action for habeas corpus relief under Chapter 782 (105:7-8, 17-19).

Under Wis. Stat. § 906.09(5), evidence of the "pendency of an appeal" of a prior conviction is admissible in evidence. As the habeas action was not an "appeal" at all, but only a collateral challenge to a conviction after the prior appeal had failed, it would not have even been admissible. It was reasonable for counsel not to try to

introduce proof of the habeas action because the state would simply have countered with proof that Sveum unsuccessfully appealed his 1996 conviction years earlier.

## 4. Cross-examination of Jamie Johnson.

Sveum now claims for the very first time that he never threatened Johnson. Sveum's brief at 25. Sveum now claims he always wanted counsel to challenge on cross-examination Johnson's assertion that he had threatened to kill her in 1994. Sveum offers nothing to show that such a credibility challenge would have done anything but backfire. Johnson would have insisted that it was a real threat to kill and counsel would have been forced to accept her answer. The extrinsic evidence on this collateral matter that Sveum now offers would have been inadmissible (93:21-24; A-Ap. 44-47). Wis. Stat. § 906.08(2). See State v. Sonnenberg, 117 Wis. 2d 159, 174-75, 344 N.W.2d 95 (1984). Moreover, the letter from Johnson Sveum insists counsel should have introduced (93:23; A-Ap. 44) only further confirms Johnson's testimony that he was inflicting psychological torture on her. The letter from a Susan Applebaum (93:21-22; A-Ap. 45-46) would have been inadmissible hearsay. Wis. Stat. §§ 908.01(3) and 908.03. Evidence regarding title to an automobile (93:24; A-Ap. 47) would have been relevant to nothing as it had no tendency to prove the existence of any fact that is of consequence to this case. § 904.01. Syeum offers nothing to show how any of this extraneous information is relevant to whether or not he threatened to kill Johnson in 1994. Because he chose not to testify, none of this became relevant.

Finally, Sveum has not produced the "police reports" which he claims show that Johnson had voluntary contact with him in 1995. Even so, this proves nothing with regard to whether her contact with him years later was voluntary or whether he threatened to kill her in 1994.

Johnson's testimony was so strongly corroborated by the testimony of others and the documentary evidence obtained by police that any attack on her credibility would have been foolhardy. Counsel was left with the flimsy defense that any threats his client made were empty ones. Counsel backed this up with cross-examination of Johnson that she never saw Sveum with a gun (121:170), and that Sveum's conduct has changed significantly since 1994 when he threatened to kill her; now, most of his contacts consisted of only hang-up phone calls (121:174-80). Sveum introduced the testimony of his sister Renee that she believed he would never physically hurt Johnson (120:109-10), and that police never recovered a gun or any other weapon during their searches (120:196-97). Counsel also introduced proof that Sveum had sent a letter to Johnson telling her she would have a "long and lonely life," which should have led her to believe that he would not kill her (120:197).

Even in the unlikely event that Johnson would testify Sveum never threatened her, the state would counter on rebuttal with proof that she testified under oath in the 1996 trial that he had threatened to kill her. See State v. Sveum, 220 Wis. 2d at 410. Once again, as the trial court correctly determined, this was just another disagreement over strategy which is virtually non-reviewable under Strickland (113:10-11; A-Ap. at 18-19).

5. Failure to object to questions put to Renee Sveum by the state on rebuttal.

Renee Sveum testified, in response to questions by defense counsel, that when she assisted Sveum, she did so believing he would never hurt Johnson (120:109-10). On rebuttal, without objection by the defense, the prosecutor asked whether Renee knew about the 1994 threat. Renee said she did not (120:110). On re-cross, defense counsel got Renee to testify that she did not know whether Sveum had ever threatened Johnson (120:111).

Defense counsel clearly "opened the door" to the state's rebuttal when he asked whether Renee thought Sveum would harm Johnson. This is analogous to proof of a pertinent trait of character of an accused which is admissible when offered by the accused but also "by the prosecutor to rebut the same." Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1)(a). The "trait" in question is Sveum's propensity for violence in general, and violence towards Johnson in particular. Sveum introduced this evidence and the state was free to rebut it. *Id.* It was not unreasonable for defense counsel to delve into this area of inquiry because, even with the state's rebuttal, he could use Renee's testimony to further support his argument that any threat his client made against Johnson was an empty one (122:50-57).

Sveum seems to be arguing that counsel's error was in letting the state introduce this rebuttal testimony out of order; he argues that the state could not question Renee about her knowledge of this threat until after proof of the threat was introduced. Sveum's brief at 28. If counsel had so objected, this would have easily been remedied by the state; Renee would have been called back to the stand after Johnson testified about the threat. The testimony would have been the same. Finally, the trial court could have allowed the rebuttal testimony to come in just as it did because the trial court has broad discretion to control the order of witnesses and the presentation of evidence. Wis. Stat. § 906.11(1). See State v. James, 2005 WI App 188, ¶8, 285 Wis. 2d 783, 703 N.W.2d 727.

6. Failure to request curative instructions regarding other-acts evidence.

For the reasons explained above, evidence of the 1996 stalking conviction was admissible to establish several elements of this offense and, so, a "curative" instruction was not needed or even appropriate here. Moreover, as explained above, this was not even "other acts" evidence at all; it was needed to prove Sveum's "course of conduct," its continuing impact on the victim in assessing

the reasonableness of her fear for her safety, and to establish that he satisfied the requirements of § 940.32(3)(b) as one who was convicted of stalking the same victim within seven years.

At this point, Sveum presents arguments regarding double jeopardy, the statute of limitations, equal protection and due process. Sveum's brief at 30-31. The state will not respond to those claims because they are not developed at all; they are improper appellate argument. State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646-47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992). They also have nothing to do with whether counsel performed reasonably in not requesting a curative instruction here.

In conclusion, counsel's alleged errors, whether considered individually or in the aggregate, fall well short of proving both deficient performance and prejudice. *See State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶61, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305.

V. ANY ERROR IN THE INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY REGARDING THE "COURSE OF CONDUCT" ELEMENT WAS HARMLESS.

Sveum contends that the trial court erred in its instructions to the jury regarding the various ways one can engage in a "course of conduct" of stalking set forth in Wis. Stat. § 940.32(1)(a)1.-10. The trial court agreed that the instructions were erroneous (113:12-14; A-Ap. 20-22).

As it is presently worded, Wis. Stat. § 940.32(1)(a) provides ten alternative ways (actually eleven with sub. (6m) added in) by which one may stalk a victim.

There is no dispute that the first two were properly submitted to the jury at trial: (1) maintaining visual or physical proximity to the victim; and (2) approaching or confronting the victim. The jury was also instructed on the tenth alternative which is: "[c]ausing a person to en-

gage in any of the acts described in subds. 1. to 9." See Wis. JI-Criminal 1284.

As discussed at length above, the state introduced ample proof at trial that Sveum satisfied the first two conditions (visual or physical proximity and approaching or confronting) on his own, and also argued that he was guilty of the tenth alternative in that he caused his sister Renee to do those acts as well as some of the others such as subs. 7. (sending material to the victim); 8. (placing an object or delivering an object to property owned or occupied by the victim); and 9. (delivering an object to a member of the victim's family, an employer, friend, etc.). Renee's trial testimony established beyond doubt that she in fact engaged in all of those behaviors at Sveum's insistence (see 113:13; A-Ap. at 21).

While sub. (1)(a)1.-10. was created by 2001 Wisconsin Act 109, effective February 1, 2003, before Sveum was charged, a subsequent change to sub. (1)(a)10. by 2003 Wisconsin Act 222, effective April 27, 2004, shows that only after that effective date did sub. (1)(a)10. apply to all of subs. 1.-9., instead of just 7.-9. See Wis. Stats. Annot. § 940.32, Historical and Statutory Notes (West 2005).

The jury was instructed that Sveum could be found guilty of engaging in a "course of conduct" if they found that he maintained visual or physical proximity to Johnson, contacted Johnson by telephone or caused Johnson's telephone or any other person's telephone to ring repeatedly or continuously, and caused any person (i.e., Renee) to engage in either of those acts (122:23; 113:13; A-Ap. at 21).

The jury should have been instructed that Sveum could be found guilty of causing another person to engage only in the acts enumerated in subs. 7.-9.: sending materials to the victim or disseminating information about the victim, placing an object or delivering an object to property owned or occupied by the victim, and/or deliver-

ing an object to a member of the victim's family or household or employer or friend. The jury should not have been instructed that Sveum could be found guilty of causing Renee to engage in the acts enumerated in subs. 1. and 2.

If it was error to instruct the jury in the fashion that it did, the trial court was correct in concluding that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. There is no reasonable doubt that the verdict would have remained the same even if the jury had been instructed that causing a third person (Renee) to engage in a course of conduct only involved the activities set out at subs. 7.-9. See State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶44, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

Sveum was charged with his sister, Renee, as parties to the crime under § 939.05. If the jury was satisfied that he and Renee aided and abetted each other, or conspired with each other, to stalk Johnson as Renee testified from 1999 through 2002, then he would have been guilty for whatever acts she engaged in under § 939.05 regardless whether her actions also satisfied any subsection of § 940.32(1)(a)1.-10. If Renee participated with Sveum in stalking Johnson as co-conspirator or aider and abettor, then she and Sveum are responsible for each other's conduct as "principals" under § 939.05.

Moreover, there was overwhelming evidence introduced by the state that (1) Sveum maintained visual or physical proximity to Johnson many times between 1994 and 2003 regardless what his sister did, and Sveum contacted Johnson by telephone and caused her phone (and the phones of others) to ring repeatedly regardless whether a conversation ensued. Wis. Stat. § 940.32(1)(a)1.-2. (122:23; 113:13; A-Ap. 21). Renee's testimony provided ample proof that she engaged in the conduct described at subs. 7.-9. at Sveum's behest for the various purposes described therein. There is overwhelming evidence that Sveum acted on his own when he made the various hangup calls to Johnson in 2003, and when he made the

various contacts with Johnson between 1994 and 1999. Renee's testimony described her complicity in Sveum's stalking between 1999 and shortly before Sveum's release from prison in July of 2002. None of that testimony would have changed had the instruction been worded differently. There was overwhelming evidence of Sveum's own "course of conduct" in violation of several of the statutory alternatives, and there was still overwhelming evidence that Renee engaged at his behest in the violation of subs. 7.-9. Any error was harmless.<sup>5</sup>

### **CONCLUSION**

Therefore, for all of the above-stated reasons, the plaintiff-respondent, State of Wisconsin, respectfully requests that the judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief be affirmed.